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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

A. Project Background

This two-volume report provides a preliminary historical
and archaeological assessment of the northern portion of
Central Park in the Borough of Manhattan, City of New York.
The first volume includes a narrative organized into six
chapters that describe and evaluate the results of these
studies. These chapters are supplemented with a series of
appendices giving basic technical information and a set

of topographic maps showing the locations of specific
resources. Appendix D, a gazetteer of historic resources
within the study area, contains the main body of technical
data generated by this project. The second volume of this
report consists of a series of reproductions of historic
illustrations relating to the northern portion of Central
Park. These illustrations include maps, views and
photographs and are organized chronologically.

The subiject of these studies is the area bounded by the

97th Street Transverse, Central Park West, Central Park

North (110th Street} and Fifth Avenue (Figures 1.1 and

1.2). This assessment is confined to an analysis of the

pre-Park history and prehistory, i.e., to historical and
archaeological rescurces dating from before circa 1860,

although obviously the creation of the Park and its

subsequent land use history have been taken into account /@/5
in evaluating the potential for intact archaeological

remains. T g The'S

This project has been undertaken by Hunter Research,

Inc. under contract to The Central Park Conservancy, Inc.
in connection with the latter agency’s development of
restoration and rehabilitation plans for the northern
section of the Park. Evaluation of historical and
archaeological resources has been performed with two
principal issues in mind. Firstly, The Conservancy
anticipates future review of impacts on cultural resources
by both the New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission
and the New York State Office of Parks, Recreatioen and
Historic Preservation, and therefore needs to know what
resources are present and how significant these might

be. Secondly, The Conservancy recognizes the potential
touristic and educational value of historic sites within
the Park and intends, where appropriate, to incorporate
the interpretation of historical and archaeological
resources into the Park’s restoration plans.
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A PRELIMINARY HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF
CENTRAL PARK TO THE NORTH OF THE 97TH STREET TRANSVERSE,
BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, CITY OF NEW YORK

Figure 1.1. Location of Project Area (starred).



SCALE 1:24000
0
Detailed Location of Project Area (outlined).

Source: USGS Central Park, N.Y. Quadrangle.

1979.

A PRELIMINARY HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF

CENTRAL PARK TO THE NORTH OF THE 97TH STREET TRANSVERSE,

BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, CITY OF NEW YORK

Figure 1.2.




B. Scope-of-Work and Research Strategy

The request for proposal for this project (issued by

The Conservancy on April 4, 19890) called for the services of
a consultant archaeclogy firm to prepare "an archeclogical
documentary survey and historic land use reconstruction of
pre-Park historic sites™ for the prescribed study area.
Particular attention was to be given to the fortificaticns
and military encampments of the Revelutionary War and the
War of 1812, and to the pre-Park ecology and land ownership.

In responding to the request for proposal (propesal
submitted April 23, 1990}, this consultant envisaged these
studies as requiring a combination of archival research,
historic landscape analysis and archaeological predicticn.
The project goals were seen as: 1) . to generate detailed
infoermation on the pre-Park prehistory, history and ecolocgy;
2). to develop an archaeological sensitivity assessment of
the study area in which the locations of key historic
sites and zones of potential archaeological interest are
identified; and 3). to supply The Conservancy with a
comprehensive project report and supporting technical
documentation.

Since the project report was seen as the likely basis
both for future archaeological field testing and for
technical input into restoration planning decisions, a
strong cartographic approach was employed. The research
strategy focussed initially on a detailed examination of
histeoric maps, photographs and views. Historic sites
locational data from these sources were plotted on to
present-day topographic maps (1":20’ scale). The locations
of suspected historic sites were then field-checked and an
assessment was made of each site’s archaeological potential.
This assessment was based solely on a consideration of
documentary data and surface conditions (topography, soil
conditions, vegetation cover). No subsurface testing was
undertaken.

A pre-printed survey form was used in the field in an effort

to retrieve site informatien in a consistent fashion. This
form provided the basis for the site gazetteer included in
this report (see below, Appendix D). The 1":20' scale

topographic maps were also annotated in the field and these
formed the basis for the original maps produced in this
report (see below, Figures 5.1-5.5).

1-4



In addition to conducting research into historic maps,
photographs and views, the consultant has also examined
secondary sources dealing with the history and geography of
the Park, and has performed selective research into primary
archival materials (noctably, the Annual Reports and Minutes
of the Park).

C. Overview of Previous Research and
Available Research Materials

The history of Central Park as a park (i.e., its history

as an urban landscape feature from the mid-13%th century
onwards) has received extensive attention over the years
and plays a major role in how the park is presented to

the public today. The recently published management

and restoration plan (Rogers et al. 1987) serves as the
philoscphical blueprint for Central Park’s current revival
and ongoing maintenance. This document is imbued with a
strong sense of history, reflected in the use of numerous
old photographs, an appreciation of bygone urban recre-
ational habits and a strong preservationist orientation.
The landscape design work of Frederick Law Olmsted, renowned
landscape architect and the creator of Central Park, has in
particular received widespread historical consideration
(e.g., Olmsted and Kimball 1928; Fein 1967; Reed and
Duckworth 1967; Barlow 1969; Roper 1973).

This study has employed a strong historic cartographic
emphasis and particular attention has been given to
secondary sources containing locational data and
reproductions of old maps, engravings and photographs.
Three published sources have been of particular assistance
in this regard: I.N, Phelps Stokes’ six-volume work

The Iconography of Manhattan Island (1%16), which covers

Manhattan in its entirety, allotting a few critical pages to
the early history of the Central Park area; James Riker's
Revised History of Harlem (1904), which concentrates on

the history of the northern portion of Manhattan Island; and
Edward Hagaman Hall’s McGown’s Pass and Vicinity (1903),

a brief study of the project vicinity published by the
American Scenic and Preservation Society. Elsewhere,
various other published works dealing with the history of
New York City (e.g., Lamb 1922; Lyman 1964; Ellis 1966) and
the Revolutionary War and the War of 1812 (e.g., Lossing
1868; Guernsey 1889-95) make mention of elements of Central
Park’s pre-Park history, but these latter references have a
limited basis in primary archival data and give little
specific locational information.

1-5
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A valuable outcome of the
recognition that there is

urrent project has been the
an exceptionally rich, if somewhat
widely dispersed, body of primary documentary materials
available which should ultjimately allow a fairly detailed
reconstruction of the1933=:5§? land use history. Historic
maps have been exhaustively researched as part of this
project and it is clear that a long and detailed sequence is
available for the Central Park vicinity (see below, Appendix
B for a full listing of maps identified to date; selected
maps are reproduced throughout this report and should give
an indication of the richness of these materials).
Photographs and views showing pre-Park historic features
also survive in abundance and "new" (i.e., previously
unknown) images will probably continue to be found. Most of
the known historic views and photographs of pre-Park
features in the northern portion of the Park are reproduced
in this report.

LS

The category of documentary research materials least
thoroughly examined so far have been primary archival
sources such as deeds and mortgages,V¥surrogates records, tax
records, and private papers, journals, diaries and other
military records from the Revolutionary War and the War of
1812, It has been only possible to scratch the surface of
these materials during the present studies, but enough
"scratching® has taken place to demonstrate that more
intensive historical research would yield considerable
information on the pre-Park history.

With regard to previous archaeological research and
available archaeological research materials, it is fair to
say that no serious archaeological investigations have
previously been undertaken within the northern end of
Central Park. Standard sources on the prehistory of New
York State and the New York City area (Bolton 1905;
Beauchamp 1900; Parker 1922) make passing reference to
aboriginal sites in the general area. While these
undoubtedly did exist, their presence has been documented in
only the most cursory fashion and with little detailed
locational data. No references whatever have been found to
historical archaeological investigations being carried out
within the study area, although there are reports of
historic artifacts being recovered during the original
landscaping of the Park and in subsequent site work and
routine maintenance.

1-6
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D. Project Chronology

The contract authorizing these studies was signed on May 30,
1%990. Historical research was carried out at various times
from June through September, 1990. Archaeological fieldwork
was performed during the week of July 30 through August 3,
1990, with one on-site meeting being held on August 2. This
meeting was attended by various key. Conservancy staff
involved with the project and by representatives of the New
York City Department of Parks and Recreation and the New
York City Landmarks and Preservation Commission. BAnalysis
of the assembled research data and preparation of this
report were conducted between September 1 and October

15, 19%0. -
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CHAPTER 2

GEOGRAPHICAL SETTING

Central Park is located roughly in the center of Manhattan
Island and is bounded on the south by 59th Street, on the
west by Central Park West (Eighth Avenue), on the north by
Central Park North (110th Street) and on the east by Fifth
Avenue. The Park measures approximately half a mile in
width (from west northwest to east scutheast) and two-and-
a-half miles in length (south southwest to north northeast)
and totals 843 acres in area. The northern porticn of the
Park examined during this project accounts for roughly one
gquarter of the entire Park area {(Figure 1.2).

Central Park, and indeed most of Manhattan Island, is
underlain by Manhattan schist, a hard, resistant meta-
morphic rock formed some 450 million years ago during the
Appalachian orogeny. Subsequently modified by granite
intrusions around 100 million years later, the distinctive
Manhattan mica-schist outcrops in many locations within
Central Park and is largely responsible for the rugged
appearance of its landscape. The northern portion of the
Park 1is notable for containing a discontiguous line of
bluffs composed of schist that runs roughly east-west
between 106th and 110th Streets.

The other principal geclogical action that influenced the
Park landscape was the advance and retreat of the ice sheets
during the Pleistocene period. In some sections of the
Park, the Manhattan schist is mantled by & thin layer of
glacial till laid down by the ice sheets. In other areas
the scouring action of the ice can be seen in the grooved
surface of some of the schist outcrops (Hall 1911:383-3%1;
Schuberth 1968; Rogers et al. 1987:453),

To some extent Olmsted’s creation of Central Park involved
accentuation of the bedrock geology. In many areas the
terrain was sculpted into hummocks and knolls, and the more
spectacular natural landforms were exposed to view. In the
northern section of the Park the line of bluffs overlooking
Harlem Meer was left largely intact as a natural escarpment.

Overall, the northern portion of the Park was not subjected
to such radical land alteration, partly because the 106th to
110th Street section of the Park was developed a few years
later than the area to the south, and partly because this
section possessed fine natural landscape qualities that
hardly regquired the "improving" hand of man.

2-1
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At the time of Central Park’s creation in the mid-18th

century this section of Manhattan Island was not

well-endowed with a rich scil cover., Olmsted and Vaux uhgken“
supplemented the glacial till with large quantities of where [
imported topsoil and with organic soils dredged from the

swamps. The till itself is composed mostly of gravel, sand

and loam interspersed with pebbles and boulders. Its depth

varies from a few inches on exposed hillsides to upwards of

30 feet in some of the narrow valleys (Hall 1911:391-3%2;

Rogers et al. 1987:45-52).

The physiography of the northern portion of Central Park is
dominated by the -line of rocky bluffs that winds from west
to east through the Park between 106th and 110th Streetis.
These bluffs rise some 30 to 90 feet above Harlem Meer
attaining elevations of up to 110 feet above sea level. The
Great Hill, near the western edge of the Park between 104th
and 106th Streets, rises somewhat higher to an elevation of
around 130 feet. The only major natural break in the bluff
line is where Montayne’s Rivulet cuts through the scarp to
flow northeast into Harlem Meer. Smaller notches or gaps
occur to the east at the site of McGown’s Pass and between
Fort Clinten and Mcunt S$t. Vincent (see below, Figure 5.1).
To the north of the bluffs the land drops down to the valley
of what was originally Harlem Creek. To the south of the
bluffs, the terrain is rolling and characterized by hummocks
and swales, mostly the result of the Olmstedian landscaping. ﬁ%—*gzgéza
The drainage in the northern part of the Park (and the gonres,
surrounding built-up area) converges on Harlem Meer (Plate ”mf
2.1) which originally consisted of an area of wetland at the locaions
upper end of Harlem Creek. Harlem Creek itself, now

enclosed and underground, flows east between 106th and 108th

Streets and into the East River (formerly known as Harlem

River). Of the streams feeding into Harlem Meer within

Central Park, the most significant is Montayne’s Rivulet,

which presently rises in The Poocl and flows northeast

through The Loch, joining the Meer at Lasker Pool (Plate

2.2)y. Originally, the rivulet was fed by a number of

smaller streams, some of them rising well to the west and

south of The Pool. The basic course of Montayne’s Rivulet éﬂ'mfdﬂ

and its tributaries within the Park remains the same as in

the pre-Park era, but their appearance was -changed

dramatically and romantically by Olmsted in the mid—19thjéé— Amdérx&%a
century. —_— 7 s



Plate 2.1. General view looking northeast across Harlem
Meer from the bedrock outcrop at the site of Fort Clinton;
the buildings of Harlem are in the background (Photograph:
courtesy of The Central Park Conservancy).
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Plate 2.2. General view looking northwest from the 102nd
Street Transverse; The Loch (Montayne’s Rivulet) is located
in the wooded area in the background, at the base of the
hill (Photograph: courtesy of The Central Park
Conservancy) .
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Two other tributaries entered Harlem Creek within the
northern part of the Park, both of them originating to the
north and west. The more westerly of these two tributaries
flowed along the northern edge of the bluffs and Jjoined
Montayne’s Rivulet roughly where 6th Avenue would intersect
with 109th Street (see below, Volume 2: Illustration 17).
The other stream joined the main stem of the drainage in the
northeastern corner of the park, close to the site of the
former boathouse (Illustration 20).

e

Today, the area to the north of the %7th Street Transverse, e

to the south of 104th Street and scutheast of Montayne’s
Rivulet consists «of a well-maintained park-like setting with
lawns and intermittent tree and shrub cover, as well as
large expanses of open space currently in recreational use
{the North and East Meadows). To the north of 104th Street
and northwest of Montayne’s Rivulet, there are certain
specific features or facilities within the Park that are
well-maintained (the Conservatory Gardens, Lasker Pool,
Harlem Meer, the Great Hill), but the remaining landscape is
less manicured and contains a denser vegetation cover. This
is especially the case along the rim and slopes of the bluff
and along the valley of Montayne’s Rivulet.

The only standing buildings within the area under study are
those associated with the North Meadow Maintenance area,
Lasker Pool and the Conservatory Gardens, one structure on
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the Great Hill, and the War of 1812 Blockhouse No. 1 in the //

northwest corner of the Park.

The entire northern end of the Park is criss-crossed by a
dense network of asphalt and gravel paths, while the
principal vehicular access is via East and West Drive which |
loops anti-clockwise through this area with connections to !/
East 102nd Street, Lenox Avenue, Adam Clayton Powell, Jr.
Boulevard, and West 110th, West 106th and West 100th
Streets. There is also one internal connecting road between
East and West Drive that extends across the center of the
Park between 102nd and 104th Streets.
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CHAPTER 3

PREHISTORY

Traditional knowledge regarding the prehistory of the
Harlem Creek vicinity is somewhat garbled. While the
alignments of the principal Indian trails through the area
and some of the Indian names for topographic features are
fairly well known, there is considerable confusion over
the precise locations of Native American occupation sites.
Unfortunately, owing to the intensity of 19th- and
20th-century urban development, our understanding of
aboriginal settlement and land use patterns in this section
of Manhattan is unlikely to progress much beyond that
already achieved in the early part of this century when
historians first began considering the prehistory of
Manhattan in sericus fashion (e.g., Beauchamp 1900; Riker
1904; Bolton 1905; Hall 1905; Hall 1911; Stokes 1916-1328;
Parker 1922). .

The major aboriginal trail running north-south across
Manhattan Island generally followed the course of the later
Boston Post Road (also known as Kingsbridge Road) through
what is today the northern section ¢f Central Park. Known
as the Manhattan Path or the Wickgquasgeck trail, this route
descended the bluffs to Harlem Creek through what later
became known as McGown’s Pass, crossed the creek, and then
divided into a northeastern and a northwestern branch. The
former branch followed the course of the 0ld Harlem Road;
the latter generally followed the alignment of St. Nicholas
Avenue (Bolton 1905:Map IV; Hall 1911:397; Stokes 1328
VIi:67-b). .

Local Indian groups recognized at least three different
areas of flats bordering Harlem Creek. The area directly
north of the creek and present-day Central Park was referred
to as Muscoota, literally meaning "the flats", and was known
in the early historic period as Montagne’s Flat. Directly
to the east, between the Manhattan Path and the Harlem River
on the north side of Harlem Creek, was an area known as
Conykeekst or Conymokst (referred to by early Dutch settlers
as Otterspoor). On the opposite (southern) side of the
creek, the flats were known as Rechawanis, meaning Great
Sands. This latter area was known in the early historic
period as Montagne’s Point, and then later as the Benson or
McGown Farm. The upstream portions of the latter two of
these zones of flats converged within the northeastern
corner of present-day Central Park at the point where the
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Manhattan Path crossed Harlem Creek. The southern limits of
Muscoota were marked by a tributary of Harlem Creek that
flowed from west to east along the base of the bluffs that
extends through the Park between 106th and 110th Streets
(Riker 1904:122; Bolton 1905:Map IV; Hall 1911:387; Stokes
1916 II1:193-194).

At least two, and perhaps as many as four, aboriginal

occupation sites have been identified close to —-- and in two

cases, possibly within -- the study area (Figure 3.1).

Seemingly, the most precisely located site is a small

fishing or shellfish collecting station situated well to the e
northeast of Central Park in the vicinity of 121st Street e
and Avenue A on what would have been the shoreline in the ﬁjf%
later prehistoric period (Bolton 1905:163-164, 168). This

site may be the same as that ldentified in the New York

State Museum files as Site 4063, supposedly a village site

reported in a statewide survey of aboriginal sites earlier

in this century (see below, Appendix C) (Parker 1%22). The

locations of these two sites are close but do not correspond

exactly.

More problematic in terms of its location is the village
site traditionally known as Konaande Kongh. Bolton
(1905:Map IV) places the location of this site between Park
and Lexington Avenues between 98th and 100th Streets. A
path is shown branching off to the village from the main
Manhattan Path arocund 96th Street. Stokes, on the other
hand (1916 I1:193-194), correlates the site of Konaande
Kongh with the site of Hendrick De Forest’s house, which he
believes stocd in the Mount St. Vincent area close to
McGown’s Pass. The two locations are similar in that they
both occupy the bluffs overlooking Harlem Creek, but no
archaeclogical finds have been recovered to support one oQr
other of these candidates.

Finally, the New York State Museum files, after Parker
{(1922), 1dent1fy an aboriginal site within Central Park
somewhere in the vicinity of the North Meadow Maintenance
Area. This resource, designated as Site 4062, is recorded
as consisting of shell heaps, which is a curious description
considering the site’s location so far from the Manhattan
shoreline and any major pre-Park surface drainage features.
One suspects that the description (and perhaps also the
location) of this site is in error. So far, no field
evidence has been produced to confirm the existence of this
site within the Park.
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Thus, at this stage, despite unceonfirmed secondary reports,
no aboriginal sites have been definitely identified within
the northern portion of Central Park. This is not to say
that such sites may never have existed. Indeed, Central
Park, as the major remaining expanse of open space in
Manhattan, is one of the few locations where evidence of
prehistoric activity might be expected to survive, providing
the landscaping of the Park did not entail radical land
modification.

On environmental and topographic grounds, the floodplain
fringe and the bluff top bordering Harlem Creek would have
been attractive to Native American peoples intent on
exploiting the food resources of the floodplain itself.
Soils along the floodplain margins would have been better
drained and could have supported semi-sedentary occupation.
Blufftop locations had the added advantage of a good view
across the valley to the north, an important factor in
tracking game and other aboriginal groups. On acceunt of
the relatively barren and rocky terrain in this section of
Manhattan, horticulture is not likely to have been widely
practised.
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CHAPTER 4

PRE-PARK HISTORY

European settlement within the section of Central Park to
the north of the %7th Street Transverse began with the
establishment of the de Forest/Mentagne bowery [Site 589-12]
near the confluence of Harlem Creek and Montagne’s Creek in
1636-37. This farmstead was, in fact, the first permanent
European settlement activity within the region that later
came to be known as Harlem. The agricultural nature of this
early habitation was typical of most land use in this
section of Manhattan Island up until the time of the
creation of Central Park during t£he mid-19th century.

In 1666 the village of New Harlem was established by charter
and given various rights relating to the lands of the
northern part of Manhattan. A line was drawn to separate
these lands from those to be retained by the Corportation of
New York and ran diagonally through the present Central Park
on a northwesterly course from 96th Street at Fifth Avenue
to 110th Street,at Eighth Avenue. This line was the source
of much controversy, however, since conflicting claims arose
as Harlem and New York scught to gain control of lands to
either side of the line. The issue was, in fact, not
settled until 1775 when a new line was surveyed that was
agreeable to both sides. This compromise gave the village
of Harlem all of the present Park above the 97th Street
Transverse with the exception of the area roughly bounded by
the extension of 107th Street on the north and Seventh
Avenue on the east.

All cof the property within the Harlem section of the future
Park was initially included in what was referred to as the
Harlem Common Lands, a term used to describe all the
unappropriated land within the village’s jurisdiction.
These lands were periodically subdivided and distributed

to those holding land rights under the village charter.
Property within the northern section of the Park was
included within sewveral of these subdivisions, notably the
Montagne’s Flats (Muscoota) subdivision, the division of
1691, and the First Division of 1712. Scme of the lands
just above the 97th Street Transverse remained as Common
Lands until the early part of the 1%th century. The lands
within the New York section (scuth of 107th Street and west
of Seventh Avenue) were all included within the extensive
patent awarded to Isaac Bedlow in 1667-78 and later owned by
Theunis Idens Van Huyse.
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As settlement within the northern part of Manhattan expanded
there was an associlated improvement and expansion of the
system of overland transportatior, The former aboriginal
trail that had been adapted for use by Eurcpeans as the
primary route between the growing village on the southern
tip of Manhattan and points north was fully developed as an
overland transport corridor during the second half of the
17th century. The original route of this roadway, which ran
northwards through the nerthern end of the Park between
Fifth-and Sixth Avenues tc the vicinity of 108th Street and
angled eastward to pass through the village center of Harlem
before resuming its northern course, was formally opened up
as a public highway in 1669, In 1703 ancther road following
an Indian trail was laid out for formal public use and ran
due north from the main recad at 108th Street to follow the
present course of St. Nicholas Avenue to a reunification
with the old road in the vicinity of 131st Street (this
route allowed the village of Harlem to be bypassed}. This
read, with its Harlem Road (Lhe route to Harlem village} and
Harlem Lane (the bypass rcad) sections, was known most
commonly as the Kingsbridge Road (for its crossing of the
Harlem River on the northern end of the island) or the
Eastern Post Road (for the connections it provided with
places such as Boston and Albany).

The importance of this road te the pattern and type of
settlement that was seen within the northern section of the
present Central Park was considerable, Settlement

activity during the 17th and 18th centuries was focused
almost exclusively within the eastern third of this section
of the Park as proximity to this roadway was obviously a
primary consideration. The road also provided a mcre
specific influence on the local economy when the first of a
series of taverns serving travelers along this important
route was established during the 1680s. The Jansen/
Kortwright Tavern, alsec known as the Half Way House [594-6],
was sited on the west side of the Kingsbridge Road just
north of the junction of the Harlem Road and Harlem Lane
spurs. Taverns remained a presence within the northern
section of what later became the Park during the 18th and
early 19%th centurilies as the Black Horse, later McGown's,
Tavern [589-12], the Benson/Leggett Tavern [588-3], and the
Bensen/Kimmel Tavern [593-3] all were active during this
period.
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The cultural landscape in the Harlem area remained decidedly
rural in nature throughout the remainder of the colonial
pericd. The above mentioned taverns were essentially the
only non-agricultural elements in the landscape, and they
did little to alter the rural appearance created by a
pattern of settlement based on isolated farmsteads
surrounded by cultivated fields, pasture and woodlots.
During this period a closely interrelated network of family
land ownership emerged that saw the McGown, Benson, Dyckman,
Kortwright and Waldron families dominate land holdings
within the region. Many of these families, neotably the
Bensons and the McGowns, maintained their extensive real
property interests in the Harlem area well into the 13th
century.

During the American Revolution the heights in the vicinity
of Harlem and, specifically, the locality that came to be
known as McGown’s Pass came 1o be recognized for their
strategic importance. The fortification of the high ground
between the Hudson and East Rivers and the area around the
pass by British forces occupying Manhattan required that any
American offensive launched overland from the north be
successfully impeded. Several of the works that were built
by British military engineers around McGown'’s Pass and on
the brow of the Great Hill were sited within the present
bounds of the northern end of Central Park [694-3]. 1In
addition, British and Hessian troops assigned to garrison
these works occupied encampment areas on the Great Hill and
in the fields that once flanked the Kingsbridge Road to the
south of the pass [807-1].

There was little change in the cultural landscape within the
northern section of the future Park during the early Federal
period. Tavern-related activities continued at various
locations on the road, while elsewhere agriculture remained
the dominant activity. Scattered farmsteads of varying
sizes were still the principal elements in the landscape,
with the Burrowes property [804-5] a noteworthy additioen as
the first substantial settlement took place within the
western half of what is now the Park.

Military considerations again returned to the fore in the
McGown’s Pass area during the War of 1812 as the City of New
York and the United States Army combined forces to design
and build a line of fortificatiens that was, ence again,
expected to deter a prospective land offensive from the
north [592-2]. The pass, as had been the case only 40 vyears
earlier, again became the focus of a complex system of
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redoubts and earthworks that protected the Kingsbridge Road
approach. The heights toe the west of the pass were secured
by the erection of a series of four blockhouses, with the
easternmost of these still standing today in the northwest
corner of the Park [809-2]. This extensive system of
fortifications was manned for several weeks by militia units
that encamped in the vicinity of the pass and on the Great
Hill, probably using cantonment sites that had been occupied
by British and Hessian units during the American

Revolution.

It was not until the latter part of the first half of the
19th century that the first signs of the extensive urban
development that was drastically altering the landscape of
lower Manhattan came to be perceived within what was to
become the far northern end of Central Park. During this
period there was a proliferation of marginal subsistence
farmsteads, small dwellings, and rented or illegally
erected shanties, Another noteworthy development during
this period was the establishment of the Mount St. Vincent
Academy by the Catholic Sisters of Charity of the Diocese of
New York in the northern end of what was soon to become the
Park. However, despite the increasing intensity of land
use, this growth still did not radically alter the rural
nature of the local landscape. Indeed, it was the area’s
surviving, if threatened, rural landscape that contributed
to its selection for incorporation within the new Central
Park during the middle decades of the 19%th century.

4—4
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CEAPTER 5

FIELD ANALYSIS AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY ASSESSMENT

A. Methodology

The initial task in preparing for archaeological fieldwork
involved a close examination of historic and present-day
maps to obtain the necessary familiarization with the
geography of the study area. Particular attention was given

to apparent differences between the pre-Park and current o
topography (e.g.,  modified drainages, areas where major land rfuugé
alteration had occurred). Following this, each individual ks :i
structure or cultural feature shown on the assembled — Z0Wf“1}3?é\
historic maps was plotted on to the 1982 series of 1":20’ . 9d§hwﬁ;"9
topographic maps. At this scale, a total of 24 topographic folbry
sheets covers the area of study. ‘P _J tope

Suretys
In all, the locations of 147 separate pre-Park historic Tres?
sites or features were transferred from the historic maps on &
to the topographic maps. Each resource was assigned its own .@’ng
unique identification number based on its location within Sl

the city grid that was superimposed over the Park on the
maps prepared by the Common Council of the City of New York
in 1836 (Illustrations 53-55). Thus, the first three digits
of each site identification number reflect the block number
on this grid. The remaining digits (separated from the
first three digits by a hyphen) indicate a sequential
numbering system used within each block. Both the block
numbering sequence and the site numbering sequence within
each block begin in the southeast corner and progress from
south to north and east to west, concluding in the northwest
corner. This numbering system could be expanded .to cover
the rest of the Park, if other pre-Park historical and
archaeclogical studies are conducted in the future.

As one might expect, the precision with which one was able
to transfer the locations of pre-Park historic resources on
to present-day topographic maps depended greatly on the

accuracy and scale of the historic socurce maps. In some Zc/_/'

instances, notably the larger scale maps of the 1850s and
1860s (e.g., Illustrations 53-59, 62-64, 72 and 75) and the
fine series of Randel maps from 1819-20 (Illustrations
7240-45), resource locations could be plotted with
considerable confidence to within 25 feet. In contrast,
most of the 18th-century maps are of smaller scale and
dubious accuracy. It is particularly difficult, for
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example, to transfer the locations of some cof the
Revolutionary War era redoubts and encampments from historic
(Illustrations 4-8 and 10-13) to present-day maps. A margin
of error of up to 200 feet may apply in our efforts to
locate these resources.,

Armed with a set of 1":20’ topographic maps annotated with
information extracted from historic maps, two archaeclogists
and the Central Park Photographer conducted a week-long
field check of the sites of suspected resources. A
pre-printed form was filled out for each site in an effort
to gather field information in a consistent fashion.

Certain characteristics were routinely considered {(e.g.,
vegetation cover, surface soil conditions, elevation,
aspect) and a preliminary assessment was made of each
location with regard to Park-related land alteration and the
potential for below-ground remains. In many cases, it was
difficult to make a clear judgement as to whether stripping
or f£illing might have taken place (the former generally
being destructive, the latter protective, of archaeological
deposits) .

Where doubts over ground conditions existed, the consistent
erred on the side of preservation and assumed that
archaeological remains were more —- rather than less --
likely to have survived. No excavations were conducted,
although in a few locations a four-foot steel probe was used
to try and establish the depth of soil cover. A small
number of sites (less than 3%) were not visited during the

fieldwork phase. These were resources whose existence only s

emerged late in the analysis and report-writing phase of the
project, fellowing detalled reconsideration of research data

Once the gathering of histeric maps and archival and field
data was complete, the project information was processed
into a form in which it could be included in a report.
Historic maps were reproduced and marked with the project
limits (see Veolume 2 of this report). The forms used for
field recording were refined to form the basis for the site
gazetteer included as Appendix D in this report. An
abbreviated historical section was added to each gazetteer
entry and, wherever possible, site names were applied to
specific resources using the available historical
information.,

- A3
Analysis of research and field data resulted in the =
recognition of six principal groups of resources:
prehistoric resources; transportation features (roads, lanes
and bridges); domestic sites (farms, dwellings and
shanties); commercial sites (taverns); military
fortifications ({(earthworks, redoubts and encampment areas
from both the Revolutionary War and the War of 1812); and




religious/educational resources (consisting chiefly of the
Mount St. Vincent Academy complex). These resource groups
form the basis for the bulk of this chapter and Tables
5.1-5.5 summarize the information for sites within the last
four of the six categories.

Data analysis also entailed a re-mapping of site locations
and an attempt to show cartographically those areas
considered archaeologically sensitive. Figure 5.1 shows the
locations of historic resources for the entire project area.
Figures 5.2-5.4, based on the 1":20’ scale topographic
maps, - show at a larger scale those areas where there 1s a
greater density of resources. Finally, accompanying a
general discussion of the overall sensitivity of the study
area, Figure 5.5 shows zones of archaeclogical sensitivity
superimposed over the 1":100’ base map used as Figure 5.1.

Archaeological sensitivity has been measured using a pheass
four-level rating system: high, moderate, low and minimal. {1&7;
These assessments should be regarded as provisional, pendigg_}——~ éafmJ
subsurface investigations and further historical research, — P
which may cause the archaeclogical potential of specific P
resources to be re-evaluated. While Chapter 6 below
presents a number of general recommendations pertaining to
future treatment of archaeological resources in the northern histesh
portion of Central Park, Tables 5.1-5.5 and Appendix D Pﬂaéks
include site-specific recommendations concerning an

‘_J’L-QPQ

appropriate level of field investigation designed to o
establish the presence or absence of archaeological -
deposits.

B. Prehistoric Resources

A review of information concerning known prehistoric sites
in the wvicinity of the northern porticn of Central Park
indicated that two resources were possibly located within
the study area, one on Mount St. Vincent, the other in the
center of the Park near the 97th Street Transverse (see
above, Chapter 3). However, the data relating to these
sites is ambiguous and there is a chance that neither site
in fact lies within the limits of the Park.

No evidence of prehistoric occupation was observed in the
field, and it was considered unlikely at the outset

of fieldwork that such evidence would be encountered.

The extent and intensity of historic period land use
(agricultural activity from the 17th- through mid-13%th
centuries; the construction of fortification systems during
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the Revolutionary war and the War of 1812; and the creation
and maintenance of Central Park from the third gquarter of
the 19th century onwards) are all likely to have worked
against the survival of prehistoric archaeological deposits.

Although the chances of surface prehistoric finds occurring
seems extremely remote, there is still a possibility that
buried prehistoric deposits may survive in some sections of
the study area. On local environmental and topographic
grounds, the areas most likely to have been attractive to
Native American peoples are the floodplain fringes along
Harlem Creek and the rim of the bluffs overlooking Harlem
Creek and Montayne’s Riwvulet.

The upper soil strata in the floodplain margins have been
severely altered as a result of the creation of Harlem Meer,
but there is some possibility that deeply buried prehistoric
cultural deposits could still survive within and immediately
adjacent to the Meer below the deepest extent of Meer-
related ground disturbance. If future restoration plans
involve modification of previously undisturbed land in and
around the Meer (i.e., soils that have been undisturbed
within the last 130 years), these areas should be examined
to establish the presence or absence of prehistoric cultural
deposits.,

The chances of intact prehistoric archaeolegical strata
surviving within the thinner soil cover on the uplands
overlooking Harlem Creek and Montayne’s Rivulet seem very
slight. The rim of the bluffs, attractive to Native
Americans for the good view over the creeks and adjacent
lowlands, were similarly attractive for strategic reasons to
British and American forces in the Revolutionary War and the
War of 1812. The rim of the bluffs was therefore the scene
of intense military fortification building, an activity that
involved major land modification which very likely would
have affected the intactness of any pre-existing prehistoric
archaeological deposits. Similarly, Mount St. Vincent,
intensively occupied for most of the historic period, is
likely to show only patchy survival of prehistoric
resources. Since future archaeological investigations are
likely to concentrate on military and other historic
features along the bluffs, any surviving prehistoric
resources would probably be encountered during the course of
such work., No specific prehistoric study of the upland
peortions of the studglseems appropriate at this stage.

!
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C. Road, Lanes and Bridges (Figure 5.1)

No definitive evidence of early historic road surfaces,
lanes or bridges was observed during fieldwork, but there
are some clues in the present-day landscape which give some
hint as to the pre-Park road system.

The principal rcad leading north from the City of New York
to Harlem and beyond (known as the Kingsbridge Road or the
0ld BRoston Post Road) followed a sinucous course through the
northern portion of today’s Central Park. Within the study
area, its alignment was contained between Fifth and Sixth
Avenues, and a segment of this route is now followed by the
East Drive (between 102nd and 106th Streets). In the
southern portion -of the East Meadow there are some
topographic indications (e.g., a faint ledge-like anomaly)
which may reflect the route of the Kingsbridge Road. To the
north, the dominating factor in the road’s alignment was the
pass (McGown’s Pass) through which travelers descended the
bluffs to cross Harlem Creek. This section of the
Kingsbridge Road is now followed by an asphalt path, and the
pass is still discernible as a cleft in the bluff (Plate

5.1).
) /fnf;!/h_.:_éfd-q of/’u

The northern section of the Kingsbridge Road w1th1n the Park
is now lost from view, hav1ng been destroyed byAHarlem Meer.

éwéhfédehe Meer has also Bééfi“responsible_for”femoviag®all traces
of the old Harlem Road and two bridges (one over Harlem
Creek; the other over the tributary that flowed into Harlem
Creek in the far northeastern corner of the Park).

Other historic transportation features within the study area
include farm lanes (notably the network of lanes giving
access to the Great Hill and the Burrows property [804-51)
and routes linking the various fortification components and
encampments on the bluffs. Unlike the Kingsbridge Road,
which has left some traces of its former cocurse, these lanes
and minor transportation features are no longer visible in
the landscape.

D. Domestic Sites (Figures 5.1 and 5.2; Table 5.1)

Domestic sites within the northern portion of Central Park
fall into two main categeories: farms and dwellings dating
from the 17th, 18th and early 19%th centuries, mostly ranged
along the Kingsbridge Road; and the small dwellings and
shanties dating from the 1820s through the 1850s, which
represent the outer edge of the City’s northward expansion
across the Island of Manhattan. Domestic sites in both
categories may include associated outbuildings, either
agricultural or domestic.
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MM? Lot hrens be recorarar

582-1 - shanty/small dwelling? L’z:'{” S 5-18 5T 4. e s Fingg rest
582-2 Waldron House dwelling e 5-10 8T A b lintek
582-3 Waldron Barn barn on X 5-10 5Ts ’é,, fo ol bl
582-4 - shantyloutbmldi /q.,/ /5‘3"9»5 X 5-10 5Ts ‘Qp e
583-1 Griffin House dwelllng X 5-10 5Ts resoa b sha 4?.5
583-¢ TRodrigquez House dwellifig X 10-20 S1s at 25’
583-3 = shanty/small dwelling? X 5-10 5Ts
584-1 [ - g dvelling? x 10-20 STs at 25°
584~2 - outbui 1ding? X 5-10 $Ts at 25' ) hors :
585-2 - | dwelling? X 10-20 STs at 25' @/ b 15/
585-3 | - dwelling? x 10-20 STs at 25 Com anglv
585-4 - shanty/small dwelli ¥ 5-10 STs
55 N guelling ?g . 10-20 §s at 25" 45 Somcce
587-1 Benson Dwelling Lata

or Outbuilding dwelhng/outbu{lﬁmg’ x 5-10 815
588-1 - dwelling/shanty? X 5~10 $Ts
588-2 - dwelling? X 20-50 STs on 25 grid << —
588~3 Benson/Leggett Tavern tavern / x 20~50 Sts-on 25¢ qrid
588-4 Benson Dwelling? dug_l;mg,_ﬁc' X 20-50 $Ts on 25" grid
588-5 - “dutbuilding? ' % 5-10 STs at 25’
589-1 - Qoutbmldm_g % 5-10 §Ts at 2%’
589-3 - small barn X 2-5 S5Ts
589-% McGown Outbuilding outbui lding X 5-10 STs; 25" grid; backhoe
589-10 McGown Outbuilding outbui lding % 5-10 STs; 25' grid; backhoe
589-11 McGown Outbuilding outbui lding X 5-10 Sts; 25" grid; backhoe
589-12 Black Horse Tavern;

McGown's Tavern tavern b 20-50 STs; 23' grid; backhoe
589-15 Benson Dwelling/

Outbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? X 10-2¢ 5Ts at 25
596-1 - outbuilding? X -5 8Ts
590-4 McGown Barn barn X 5-10 Sts; at 25'; backhoe
590-10 McGown Dwelling? dwelling? % 20-50 STs; 25' grid; backhoe
591-6 Benson Dwelling

or Outbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? X 10-20 Sts on 25' grid
591-7 Benson Dwelling

or Qutbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? X 10-20 STs at 25
592-1 Benson Dwelling? dwelling? b1 5=10 8Ts
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2 eﬂe
Faylﬁeger Barn

Watt: Dwelting?
Benson Dwelling?

1 Wilkins Shanty
or Outbuilding .-~
 Wilkins Shanty  /

or Outbuilding \

I Natter Livelling

or Qutbuilding

' Forest. Cabin

Nutter Estate Shed
Nutter House:
Nutter: Estate Barn

Hutter Estate Qutbuildi

Nutter Ontbuilding

. shanty/outbuilding?

bihey test

Syt
a/ﬁ//P

shanty/outbeilding? o %

‘shanty/outbuilding? x

dwelling? ' X
tavern // X

L

'dnellingluutbuil/'zﬁé/ X

dwelling
~hot house—" - x
“dwelling - X

_stable ~ z

barn x

‘tavern b

dwellmg

k-

be B D

dwelling?
idwellmg

X
X
shanty | X
x
X

shanty .-
duelhnq"

dwelling? ——u %

5

._shanty/ authuﬂ{h 9
\\\,_,/_

shantylauthullmng‘? g, 4

shanty/outbuilding? %

> \dnelhngleutbmldmg’ ok

dwelIing

g

3

|

}
Mobe b PP

>7

20-50 on 257 grid
no archaeclogical testing

no archaeological testmg
no archaeological testing

no archaeological testing

no archaeological testing
2-5 §%s

10-20 5% at 25"

5-10 85 at 25

ne archaeological testing
20-50 8%s; 25' grid: hackhge
20-50 §Ts an 25° grid
no drchaeglogical testlng
10-20 575 on 25" grid
10-20 5%s on 25" grid
1020 STs on 25' ‘grid
20-50 §7s on 25" grid
5-10 Sts

5-10 St

5-10 -STs

5-10 ‘5%

5-10 Sts

10-20: STs at 25

10-20 §1s

10-20 §Ts

10-20 s7s.at 25’
10-20 5Ts-at. 25

20-50 STs on 25" grid
5-10 $1s

5-10 S§7s on 25" grid
20-50 $Ts; 25" grid; backhie
10-20 ST5; 2% grld, ‘hackhioe
5-10 57s; 25" grid; backhoe
5-10 57s; 25° qrid; b3
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TABLE 5.1. Continued
SUMMARY OF DOMESTIC SITES

SITE SITE NRME SITE DESCRIPTION ARCHAEQLOGICAL SENSITIVITY PROPOSED IESTING
1§ . ASSESSMENT
KIGH MCDERATE LOW MIN,

696-6 Nutter/Martin Stable stable % 5-10 S%s at 25 backhoe
696-7 Martin House dwelling X 20-50 §7s; 25" grid; backhoe
h96-8 Martin Hot House < hot house > X 5-10 STs at 2%
798-1 Duffy Shanty shanty X 10-20 at 2%
198-2 = shanty/outbuilding? X 5-10 STs
798-3 = shanty/outbuilding? X 5-10 §Ts
798-3 = shanty/outbuilding? X 5-10 STs
798-4  Onderdonk/Mclaughlin Pen pen X 2-5 575
798-5  Onderdonk/Mclaughlin

Shanty/Pen shanty #/ pen X 3-10G STs
799-1 = dwelling or shanty? X 5-1¢ STs
799-7 Watt/Power Shanty shanty X 10-20 5Ts at 237
799-3 Watt/Feel Shanty shanty 10-20 STs at 25'
799-4 Watt/Miller Shanty shanty X 5-10 STs
799-5 Decker/Sherman Shanty shanty X 5-10 STs
799-6. Onderdonk Shanty shanty X 5-10 3Ts
800-1 Watt Shanty/Stable shanty w/ stable X 5-10 8Ts
§00-2 Watt McDorald Shanty shanty X 5-10 8Ts
801-1 - shanty b 5-10 STs
§01-2 & shanty X 5-10 5Ts
803-1 & shanty X 5-10 STs
804-1 Howard Carpenter's Shop  workshop X 10-20 8Ts at 25
804-2 Howard Chicken Cocp chicken cacp . b no archasological testing
804-3  Seymour Barn barm b4 10-20 STs on 25' grid
804-4 Seymour Barn barn. 10-20 5Ts on 25' grid
804-5 Burrowes House dwelling X 20-50 STs on 75’ grid
R04-6 Burrowes Dwelling/ /7
: Qutbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? ¥~ 'x , no archaeological testing
806-2 Burrowes Dwelling/ B

Qutbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? X 5-10 8Ts
806-3 PBurrowes Dwelling/

Qutbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? X 5-10 §Ts
806-4 Burrowes Dwelling/

Qutbuilding? dwelling/outbuilding? % 5-10 §Ts
§08-2 Pinckney Shanty/

Outbuilding? shanty/outbuilding? X 10-20 5Ts at 25’
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TABLE 5.1. Continued
DOMESTIC SITES

SITE SITE NAME SITE DESCRIPTION ARCHAEOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY PROPOSED TESTING
0 ASSESSMENT
BIGH MODERATE IOW MIN,
808-3 Pincknay Shanty/ - -
- Outbuilding? @ty/outbnilding?> X 20-30 STs 25 grid
809-1 Elliot Barn? <“ham?> % 10-20 STs on 25’ grid
809-3 Elliot House dwelling X 20-30 STs on 25 grid
809-6 Elliot Dwelling/ A ——
Qutbuilding? < éﬂ@g{g@ilding?/ X 5-10 STs at 25
810-1 #ilkins Shanty? f_*il_’i‘ltjf/ -
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